

Social research needs analysis: Australian Intravenous League and Australian Hepatitis Council and member organisations

Author:

Southgate, Erica; Kippax, Susan; Owler, Kathryn

Publication details:

Report No. Monograph 2/2002 1975978534 (ISBN)

Publication Date:

2002

DOI:

https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/53

License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/10788 in https://unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-04-24

Social Research Needs Analysis

Australian Intravenous League and Australian Hepatitis Council and member organisations

Erica **Southgate** Susan **Kippax** Kathryn **Owler**



Social Research Needs Analysis

The Australian Intravenous League and the Australian Hepatitis Council and their member organisations

Erica **SOUTHGATE** Susan **KIPPAX** Kathryn **OWLER**

Monograph 2/2002

National Centre in HIV Social Research Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences The University of New South Wales



Copies of this monograph or any other publication from this project may be obtained by contacting:

National Centre in HIV Social Research Level 2, Webster Building The University of New South Wales Sydney NSW 2052 AUSTRALIA Telephone (61 2) 9385 6776 Facsimile (61 2) 9385 6455 nchsr@unsw.edu.au www.arts.unsw.edu.au/nchsr

© National Centre in HIV Social Research ISBN 1-875978-53-4

Design and layout by Judi Rainbow Printed by Centatime Print Specialists, Rosebery

Erica Southgate

National Centre in HIV Social Research The University of New South Wales

Susan Kippax

National Centre in HIV Social Research The University of New South Wales

Kathryn Owler

National Centre in HIV Social Research The University of New South Wales

Contents

Contents	
Acknowledgements	i
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	2
Hepatitis C social research priorities to date	2
This project	4
METHODOLOGY	5
Aims	
Method	[
Time frame	7
Analysis	7
SOCIAL RESEARCH LITERATURE ON HEPATITIS C	8
RESEARCH NEEDS	10
Social research priorities	14
THE RESEARCH PROCESS	15
Difficulties	15
Building partnerships and collaborations	16
Understanding social research: The need for capacity building	16
The products of research	17
Mechanisms for producing research priorities	17
APPENDIX 1	19
Bibliography 1: Literature related to areas outlined in the National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004	19
2003-2004	13
APPENDIX 2	29
Bibliography 2: Literature reviews, policy and reports	29
APPENDIX 3	33
Bibliography 3: Related social research	33
APPENDIX 4	39
Advisory committee membership	39
APPENDIX 5	4 1
What are your social research needs?	41

Acknowledgements

This needs analysis was funded by the Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Section. The authors would like to thank the advisory committee (see Appendix 4). We would also like to acknowledge the generosity and expertise of the individuals and organisations who participated in the consultation process.

Executive Summary

In terms of the published and grey literature from social research, the long history of research into the transmission of HIV and injecting drug use has produced more material in the areas of prevention and other transmission issues than in the areas of treatment, health maintenance, care, support and discrimination. Psycho-social research on treatment, care and support predominantly relies on the quality of life approach. Other social research approaches do not figure significantly. There are a number of existing literature reviews related to hepatitis C, and most of these also focus on the prevention of transmission area.

The Australian Intravenous League (AIVL) and its member organisations highlighted the following 5 priority areas for social research in hepatitis C, in order of importance: Peer education; discrimination and stigma; prisons; prevention; attitudes, beliefs and knowledge.

The Australian Hepatitis Council (AHC) and its member organisations highlighted the following 5 priority areas for social research in hepatitis C, in order of importance: Discrimination and stigma; the clinical encounter; impact of disclosure; prisons; rural and remote issues

In relation to the processes of social research, some user groups on the east coast of Australia, felt that they and their clients had been over-researched. Research, particularly recruitment, often affected the ability of staff and volunteers to carry out their core duties. In contrast, most hepatitis councils and user groups beyond the east coast, had only occasional contact with research and researchers.

User groups highlighted a number of ethical issues raised by research. These related to whether there were any practical benefits of research to the organisation and to people who use drugs illicitly; issues of privacy and confidentiality regarding how research instruments are administered; and lack of dissemination of research findings.

On the whole, hepatitis councils and user groups were committed to supporting social research providing equitable collaborations and partnerships were built at the beginning of the process.

Those consulted acknowledged the need for capacity building regarding the types, advantages and limitations of social research. There was a particular interest in developing ways of using social research to inform education and other activities. In addition many organisations expressed a desire to be "skilled-up" and supported in using applied research methods such as action research and rapid assessment procedure.

There was a widespread recognition of the need to develop mechanisms to facilitate on-going dialogue between community, researchers and government so that the research agenda was responsive to conditions "on the ground". Such mechanisms could also be designed to enhance the dissemination of research findings and improve their applicability to education.

Introduction

Hepatitis C social research priorities to date

In August 2000 the Australian National Council on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related Diseases (ANCAHRD) Hepatitis C Committee developed a set of research priorities¹, using the priority areas in the National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004. Fifteen research priorities were developed by the Committee. Some of these priorities relate to virological, clinical, epidemiological research, while others are best addressed through social research or by having a social research arm built into the research. The full set of research priorities is outlined below. Those relevant to social research are 1, 2, 3, 4, 10, 11, 13, 14, 15:

"Reducing hepatitis C transmission in the community

- 1. Research programs demonstrating that reducing the sharing of injecting equipment will produce a significant decline in hepatitis C transmission.
- Identifying sub-groups at increased risk of hepatitis C transmission, who act as core groups for the whole epidemic, especially including young people who inject, and monitoring transmission among these sentinel populations.
- 3. Qualitative and quantitative research into reasons for continuing to share injecting equipment among many populations of people who inject.
- 4. Ethnographic and other research on processes of initiation into injecting.

Treatment of hepatitis C infection

- 5. Retrospective and prospective cohort studies to better define the natural history of community acquired hepatitis C, so as to be able to target treatment and counsel people living with hepatitis C more effectively
- 6. Monitoring hepatocellular carcinoma incidence and causative associations
- 7. Identification and characterisation of major hepatitis C genotypes in Australia, and monitoring of trends in their distribution over time.
- 8. Further identification of virological and immunological factors involved in viral clearance (acute or later), and associated with disease progression and response to therapy clinic-based morbidity registers, and better links between clinical, social, epidemiological and virological investigations.
- 9. Development of diagnostic assays for acute hepatitis C infection.

¹ ANCAHRD Hepatitis C Committee "Hepatitis C Research Priority Areas" devised in August 2000.

Health maintenance, care and support for people affected by hepatitis C

- 10. Investigations of personal, social and economic costs of hepatitis C infection to the individual, the family, the health care system and the community.
- 11. Investigation of optimum methods for delivery of counselling, testing and treatment and other care for people living with hepatitis C, especially people who inject.
- 12. Health Program evaluation of models of specialist versus Care-Share community based care delivery.

Preventing discrimination and reducing stigma and isolation

- 13. Research to promote access of people who inject and their families to primary health care, and thereby access to hepatitis C treatment, vaccination (such as HAV/HBV) and other secondary services.
- 14. Systematic documentation of discrimination against people with hepatitis C, and investigation of underlying factors leading to discrimination.
- 15. Identification and investigation of barriers to appropriate treatment for people with hepatitis C."

The issue of research priorities was highlighted by a workshop organised by the ANCAHRD Clinical Trials and Research Committee (CTARC) and the ANCAHRD Hepatitis C Committee. The workshop, held at Coogee, Sydney, in November 2000, aimed:

- "To create a platform for hepatitis B and C research by bringing together researchers and other (sic) (to be) involved; and
- To discuss and develop a hepatitis B and C research agenda."²

A report on the workshop identified three priority themes.³ These were:

- 1. Markers of Risk and Disease Progression
- 2. Models of Care
- 3. Discrimination and Law Reform.

Under these themes a number of research priorities were identified. Although there were no social research priorities identified for theme 1, the monitoring of behaviour related to hepatitis C transmission is an important research priority. A number of research priorities are outlined below with regard to the other two themes:

² ANCAHRD Clinical Trials and Research Committee (CTARC) and the ANCAHRD Hepatitis C Committee (2000) "Adding Value: Hepatitis Research Workshop", ANCAHRD, page 2.

³ This report was in the form of correspondence from Professor Robert Batey, Chairman, ANCAHRD Hepatitis C Committee, dated March 6th, 2001.

"Models of Care

- Defining the treatment, care and support needs of people from diverse linguistic and culturally backgrounds.
- Research into the nature of symptoms and their impact on quality of life to determine optimal models of care for people with B and/or C.
- Studies into the reasons why some people with hepatitis B and/or C do not take up treatment or do not complete treatment.
- Studies to identify and define ongoing, non-medical and support issues of people affected by hepatitis C and/or B.

Discrimination and Law Reform

- Hepatitis B and C related discrimination needs to be defined more clearly and addressed actively.
- Studies are needed to assess the impact of discrimination and stigmatisation on the health, well-being and quality of life of people affected by hepatitis B and/or C.
- Partnership of affected communities with researchers is critical to any discussion of an evolving research protocol for research into discrimination and law reform."

This project

This project was commissioned as a result of ongoing discussions that took place during 2000 between the Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care, HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Section, the Australian Hepatitis Council (AHC), the Australian Intravenous League (AIVL) and the National Centre in HIV Social Research (NCHSR). The project had two arms. The first involved a national consultation to be conducted with AIVL and AHC, and their member organisations in order to assess from the "ground up", the social research needs of the sectors. The second arm involved gathering existing literature reviews and compiling a reference list of published social research articles, reports and policy documents related to hepatitis C in order to evaluate gaps in the literature. An advisory committee was established to oversee the process. Membership of this committee is given in Appendix 4.

This report begins by describing the methodology used in the project. Chapter 3 provides an overview of social research and other literature in the field. Bibliographies of this literature can be found in Appendixes 1, 2, 3. Chapters 4 and 5 outline the social research issues identified during the consultation.

Methodology

Aims

Arm 1 - Review of Literature

To locate literature relevant to the social research needs in order to a) identify gaps where existing research has not been synthesised into review format and, b) indicate where there is a lack of research in a particular area.

Arm 2 - Consultation

To undertake a consultation with AIVL, AHC and their member organisations in order to identify their social research needs.

Method

Arm 1 - Review of Literature

This arm involved locating literature on hepatitis C, specifically that which related to psychosocial aspects of the epidemic. This included:

- Searching for existing literature reviews on topics related to hepatitis C (e.g. reviews on the public health efficacy of needle and syringe programs).
- Compiling literature published in peer reviewed journals.
- Compiling "grey" material (e.g. research and technical reports, needs assessments, policy, briefing papers).
- Locating key government policy and other documents.
- Searching for literature published on areas related to, but not specifically about, hepatitis C (e.g. the experience of chronic illness).

Literature was located via the following strategies:

- Searching databases including: Current Contents, Medline, Psychinfo, Social Science Citation Index, Social Science Index, Social Science Plus and Sociological Abstracts. Key words used for searching were hepatitis C, blood borne virus, injecting drug use, injection drug use, intravenous drug use, prevention, treatment, antiviral therapy, discrimination, stigma, chronic illness, quality of life, illness and medicine.
- Searching university library catalogues from in the University of New South Wales, the University of Sydney, The University of Western Sydney, Macquarie University, and the University of Technology.
- Following up relevant studies from the National HCV Research Register for publication of reports.

- Obtaining conference papers from abstract books produced from relevant conferences.
- Contacting specialist libraries/resource centres for publications including Alcohol & Other Drugs Council of Australia; Australian Publishing Services; Centre for Education and Information on Drugs and Alcohol, NSW Department of Health; NSW Users and AIDS Association Resource Centre.
- Contacting research centres including Australian Institute of Criminology, Australian National University; MacFarlane Burnet Centre for Medical Research, University of Melbourne; National Centre for Education and Training on Addiction, Flinders University; National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, University of NSW; National Centre in HIV Social Research, University of New South Wales; National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University; Turning Point: Alcohol and Drug Centre Inc., Victoria; and the Australian Centre in Health, Sex and Society, LaTrobe University.
- Contacting individual researchers in the field including Dr Nick Crofts, MacFarlane Burnet Centre, University of Melbourne; Dr Kate Dolan, National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, UNSW; Professor Sandy Gifford, Deakin University; Associate Professor Wendy Loxley, National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University.

Arm 2 - Consultation

User groups and Hepatitis Councils were contacted to take part in a group discussion of social research needs. A document designed to prompt thinking about social research and its links with education was developed and circulated to the organisations prior to the discussion (see Appendix 5).

Consultations were conducted either face-to-face or by teleconference. The consultations were fairly free-flowing, however the consultant did facilitate discussion around the areas of research content/focus; research process; and research products. During the consultation, the consultant copied down, in 'dot point' form, the main issues discussed. This was then emailed to the organisations for them to check, correct and send back. The amended copy was then sent back to the consultant for final analysis. In a few cases the organisations opted to forward a list of social research foci to the consultant rather than have a face-to-face or teleconference consultation. The organisations consulted are listed below:

Peak Bodies

Australian Hepatitis Council (AHC) Australian Intravenous League (AIVL)

Hepatitis C Councils

Hepatitis C Council of Western Australia

Hepatitis C Council of South Australia

Hepatitis C Council of New South Wales

ACT Hepatitis C Council

Tasmanian Council on AIDS and Related Diseases (TASCARD)

Hepatitis C Council of Victoria

Hepatitis C Council of Queensland

User Groups

Western Australian Substance Users Association (WASUA)
Canberra Injecting Network (CIN)
TopEnd Users Forum (TUF)
New South Wales Users and AIDS Association (NUAA)
Queensland Intravenous AIDS Association (QuIVAA)
Drug Users Network Education and Support (DUNES)
Sunshine Coast Intravenous AIDS Association (SCIVAA)
South Australian Voice for Intravenous Education (SAVIVE)
Tasmanian User Health and Support League (TUHSL)
User Association of South Australia
Victorian Drug User Group (VIVAIDS)

Time frame

May 2001- July 2001

Analysis

Arm 1

Peer reviewed articles and grey material, (including existing literature reviews), were collected and examined in relation to the research priorities identified during the consultation process in order to identify gaps in the literature and areas of overlap.

Arm 2

Consultation information was thematised using the principles of grounded theory developed by Glaser and Strauss.⁴ Information was sorted according to key themes, areas and issues for research. The priority research areas identified by the organisations were taken into account when analysing areas for research.

Social Research Needs Analysis

⁴ Glaser, B.G. & Strauss, A.L. (1967) The discovery of grounded theory: Strategies for qualitative research. Chicago: Aldine

Social Research Literature on Hepatitis C

This arm of the project aimed to locate literature relevant to social research needs in order to identify gaps where existing research has not been synthesised into review format and indicate where there is a lack of research in a particular area.

Three bibliographies were produced using the method outlined in Chapter 2. These are:

Bibliography 1 — Organises hepatitis C literature under the headings outlined in the National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004. (See Appendix 1).

Bibliography 2 — Organises hepatitis C literature under the headings: Literature reviews, Policy documents; Government reports; Other reports. (See Appendix 2).

Bibliography 3 — References select articles and books related to, but not specifically on, hepatitis C under the headings: Living with chronic illness; Living with cirrhosis; Mental health/depression and physical illness; The clinical encounter; Alternative treatments. (See Appendix 3).

It should be noted that not all literature referenced in the bibliography stems from social research or is psycho-social in its focus. The bibliographies are fairly inclusive of different types of publications from a variety of areas including epidemiology, policy and some clinical research, where appropriate. The bibliographies were produced as resources to be drawn on, not as lists of social research papers.

With regard to the first aim, a number of existing literature reviews (a review synthesises international and local research findings) were located (see Appendix 2). For example there is a review from a sociological perspective that examines research and material on issues relating to living with hepatitis C, including discrimination; the experience of diagnosis, disclosure and the psycho-social impact of treatment and medicalisation (Hopwood and Southgate, 2001). This review draws on peer reviewed journal articles, books, government policy and reports, needs assessments and popular texts such as survivors guides. As the authors note there is a relatively little peer-reviewed literature on issues related to living with hepatitis C.

Most reviews focus on injecting drug use, where there is a longer history of behavioural research into the transmission of blood borne viruses such as HIV, and more recently, hepatitis C. For example, there are reviews of the evidence base for public health efficacy of needle and syringe programs (Dolan et al., 2000); indigenous injecting drug use (Holly, 2001; Meyeroff, 2000); and initiation and transition to injecting amongst young people (Zinkiewicz, 2001). There is also a review of the literature of educational interventions aimed at preventing the transmission of blood borne virus including hepatitis C (Dowsett et al., 1999). Sykes (1996) provides a review of social research related to hepatitis C and injecting drug use.

With regard to the second aim, identifying where there has been a lack of research, Bibliography 1 (Appendix 1) reveals that most research has focused on prevention and

transmission-related issues because of the longer history of research into the transmission of blood borne viruses, in the first instance HIV and injecting drug use. Less research has been conducted around the psycho-social aspects of treatment. Research that does exist in this area often uses the construct of health-related quality of life and the quantitative instruments devised to measure this construct (for example the Short Form 36 survey [SF36] or the Sickness Impact Profile [SIP]). The quality of life approach also figures significantly in the area of health maintenance, care and support. In the area of discrimination and stigma, there are a couple of key documents including work by Burrows and Bassett (1996) and Crofts et al. (1997). Recent research by Gifford et al. (2001) promises to explore the issue further.

In summary, there is more social research on prevention and transmission-related issues than on the other areas outlined in the *National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004*. Most existing literature reviews concentrate on injecting and transmission of blood borne viruses. The quality of life approach is frequently employed in the areas of treatment and health maintenance, care and support. Other social research approaches such as those informed by narrative theories do not figure in these areas. Some key documents have been produced in the area of discrimination and stigma. Information on this topic will be greatly enhanced by the release of findings from current research studies in the area (for example in studies undertaken by a collaborative team made up of participants from Deakin University, ARCSHS, NCEPH, AIVL and AHC, and by the National Centre in HIV Social Research).

Research Needs

During the consultation process, organisations were asked to identify key areas or issues for hepatitis C social research. These areas were formulated into 18 domains by the researcher. The peak bodies, AIVL and AHC, in consultation with their members, then prioritised the domains.

The 18 domains are:

- 1. Prevention
- 2. Peer education
- 3. Advocacy
- 4. Discrimination and stigma
- 5. Attitudes, beliefs and knowledge
- 6. Experience of testing and diagnosis
- 7. Impact of disclosure
- 8. Antiviral treatment
- 9. The clinical encounter
- 10. Complementary and alternative therapies
- 11. Chronic illness
- 12. Mental health
- 13. Prisons
- 14. Rural and remote issues
- 15. Issues for people who are differently-abled
- 16. Issues for people from indigenous backgrounds
- 17. Issues for people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds
- 18. Issues for young people

The consultation process produced a list of possible research questions under each domain:

1. Prevention

- What factors affect negotiating safer injecting drug use (e.g. gender, age)?
- What rituals of group injecting contribute to hepatitis C transmission? What
 injecting practices between serodiscordant couples (one who is infected and one
 who is not) are risky?
- What is people's knowledge of re-infection? What is their understanding of infectivity?
- What place does hepatitis C hold in users' hierarchy of immediate needs? How does this impact on safer use?
- What cultures of injecting and their associated risk practices involve the injection of drugs other than heroin and amphetamines e.g. pharmaceutical pills, methadone, morphine?

- Who are the hidden groups of injectors (e.g. white collar) and what are their risk practices?
- What risk practices are associated with amphetamine use?
- Are there workplaces where transmission risks are high e.g. hairdressers, pathology labs?
- Are there issues of trauma, such as sexual assault and domestic violence, that impact on the ability of women to practice safer use?
- Are needle and syringe vending machines effective in reducing transmission?
- What do users know about cleaning fits? How do they clean fits?

2. Peer education

- How effective is peer education in prevention? What models are available?
- What ethical issues arise when conducting peer education and research?
- What do consumers expect from the advocacy process?

3. Advocacy

- How effective is advocacy? What models are available?
- What ethical issues arise when advocating for people with hepatitis C and/or those who inject illicitly?
- What do consumers expect from the advocacy process?

4. Discrimination and stigma

- What is at the root of hepatitis C discrimination?
- How does systemic discrimination operate in particular settings (e.g. hospitals)?

5. Attitudes, beliefs and knowledge

- Community attitudes- What are the broader community attitudes, beliefs and knowledge about hepatitis C prevention and harm reduction and illicit drug use?
- Service provider attitudes- What are the attitudes, beliefs and knowledge about hepatitis C among those in direct contact with people affected by the virus e.g. prison guards, judiciary, nurses, pharmacists, dentists, community health workers, doctors?

6. Experience of testing and diagnosis

- What are people's experiences of pre/post test counselling? How does the
 experience of pre/post test counselling affect a person's sense of empowerment or
 powerlessness?
- What messages are conveyed at the point of diagnosis, particularly around "innocence" versus "guilt" regarding the mode of infection.
- What impact does testing have in detoxification situations?

7. Impact of disclosure

- What is the impact of disclosing one's hepatitis C status to children, family and friends?
- What impact does the mode of infection (medically acquired versus injecting) have on the disclosure process?

8. Antiviral treatment

- What are the barriers and facilitators to treatment uptake?
- How well informed are people before they go into treatment? Are there "myths" surrounding treatment?
- What are the psycho-social impacts of undergoing treatment?
- What effect does injecting as a part of treatment have on former injecting drug
- What are the psycho-social impacts of treatment failure? Do people feel like "bad patients" if their treatment fails or if they are asked to leave treatment?
- What are the attitudes of treatment staff to people affected by hepatitis C?
- What are the attitudes of treatment staff to former and current injecting drug users?

The clinical encounter

- What is the dynamic of the clinical relationship between the person affected by hepatitis C and their general practitioner (GP) or specialist? What understandings of infectivity, prognosis and disease are produced during the clinical encounter?
- How does information flow from the specialist to the GP in regard to antiviral treatment and health maintenance? Is this flow affected if the GP is rural?
- Does the relationship between the affected person and the GP/specialist change when the GP/specialist finds out that the patient is a current or former injecting drug user?
- How do people use their clinical makers (ALT levels, biopsy results) to understand their health? Do these understandings/interpretations of clinical markers impact on quality of life?

10. Complementary and alternative therapies

Who seeks complementary/alternative therapies? At what stage of their lives or prognosis do people affected with hepatitis C seek complementary/alternative therapies?

11. Chronic illness

- How do people manage symptoms in their everyday lives?
- What impact does living with hepatitis C have on one's working life?
- What role do GPs have in health monitoring and maintenance?
- What are people's experience of a cirrhosis diagnosis? Are they followed-up, supported and referred?
- Is there a burden of illness? How do people cope with isolation, discrimination, lack of access to health care and social support?
- Is the experience of chronic hepatitis C different according to time since diagnosis (e.g. those diagnosed in 1990 versus those recently diagnosed)?
- What are the barriers and facilitators to adopting a healthy lifestyle (e.g. in diet, alcohol consumption, stress management)?

12. Mental health

- What is the relationship between a hepatitis C diagnosis and depression?
- How do people cope with depression during treatment?

13. Prisons

- What are the practices and contexts of hepatitis C transmission in prisons? Are there gender, ethnicity and age differences that affect these?
- How does social stratification in prison affect risk taking?
- How is the safer using knowledge of prisoners circumvented by the constraints of the prison environment?
- What affects prisoners' decisions to test for hepatitis C and what are their expectations of care and support? Are there "continuity of care" issues?
- What is the experience of pre/post test counselling in prisons?
- What information and support is offered to HCV positive prisoners?

14. Rural and remote issues

- Does living in a rural area affect a person's disclosure of hepatitis C status to their GP?
- What are the barriers and facilitators to treatment uptake for people living in rural and remote areas?

15. Issues for the differently-abled

How are differently-abled people affected by hepatitis C?

16. Issues for people from indigenous backgrounds

- What are the prevention issues for indigenous people?
- What is the experience of diagnosis for indigenous people?
- Is there access to culturally/linguistically appropriate information and services?
- What types of social support are needed for this group?
- What are the barriers and facilitators to treatment uptake for indigenous people?
- Are there culturally different understandings of hepatitis C infection, biopsy, treatment and blood?
- What types of discrimination do indigenous people affected by hepatitis C face?

17. Issues for people from culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) backgrounds

- What are the prevention issues for those from CALD backgrounds?
- What is the experience of diagnosis for those from CALD backgrounds?
- Is there access to culturally/linguistically appropriate information and services?
- What types of social support do people from CALD backgrounds need?
- What are the barriers and facilitators to treatment uptake for those from CALD backgrounds?
- Are there culturally different understandings of hepatitis C infection, biopsy, treatment and blood?

- What are the needs of refugee groups in relation to diagnosis, support and treatment?
- What types of discrimination do people from CALD backgrounds affected by hepatitis C face?

18. Issues for young people (under 26 years)

- What is the impact of a diagnosis on young people? Does it lead to behaviour change or increased risk taking?
- How do young people view hepatitis C (e.g. as a "badge" of a real user; as inevitable)?
- Where do young people access new injecting equipment? Do young people access needle and syringe programs?
- What are the circumstances surrounding young people's initiation to injecting?

In general, the 18 research domains fit within the four areas outlined in the *National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2000*: Reducing hepatitis C transmission in the community; Treatment of hepatitis C infection; Health maintenance care and support for people affected by hepatitis C; and Prevention of discrimination and reducing stigma and isolation. Some domains span the four areas of the Strategy, indicating a need for social research to ask questions across the areas. For example, the domain of "Chronic illness", takes in issues of care and support, mental health, the clinical encounter between people with hepatitis C and their doctors, isolation and access to services and the impact of discrimination and stigma on the above. Finally, the domains identified by the community sector enhance and in some cases add to those priority research areas established by the Hepatitis Committee of ANCAHRD. For example, while there are no social research questions addressing the experience of antiviral treatment in the Committee's document, the community sector singled treatment out as an important domain for social research.

Social research priorities

AIVL and AHC, in consultation with their member organisations, undertook to prioritise the 18 research domains. The following represents the top five research priorities of the two groups:

AIVL with user groups

Peer education
Discrimination and stigma
Prisons
Prevention
Attitudes, beliefs and knowledge

AHC with hepatitis councils

Discrimination and stigma The clinical encounter Impact of disclosure Prisons Rural and remote issues

The Research Process

The consultation process aimed to elicit insights into the processes of social research as much as the content. A number of issues regarding research were raised. These included the difficulties that social research sometimes generated; issues of partnerships in research between community organisations and researchers; capacity building; dissemination; and the usefulness of research products. The consultation also sparked ideas for building mechanisms for ongoing dialogue about social research priorities between the community sector, researchers and government.

Difficulties

Most organisations indicated a willingness to actively engage with social research and social researchers. All hepatitis councils and some user organisations not located in the eastern states expressed an enthusiasm for collaborating on research. However, some user organisations, had experienced a range of difficulties as a result of taking part in research. These included:

Research fatigue

The issue of research fatigue was restricted to a few user groups (mainly in the eastern states). Some user organisations described themselves and their clients as being over-researched. The problem of research fatigue resulted in clients not responding to the organisation's own data collection process, an outcome that proved detrimental to the organisations ability to justify or increase their funding through the use of their own statistics. Because of this situation some organisations had adopted a policy of screening research proposals by asking the question - "What benefits does the proposed research have for our organisation and the consumer?".

Impact on staff and volunteers

Staff and volunteer participation in recruitment for research was sometimes viewed as time-consuming and an unwelcome distraction from core duties. In addition, some staff members felt that in needle and syringe program (NSP) contexts their relationship with the client sometimes changed for the worse if they had to administer a research instrument, usually a questionnaire. They felt that many NSP clients preferred their anonymity and did not like to disclose personal information to a staff member or volunteer.

Ethical issues

Some user organisations raised the question of confidentiality and privacy in relation to the practice of administering questionnaires and interview schedules in public spaces such as NSP reception areas. Service providers were also concerned that research often raises sensitive issues for people and that there was often no referral or debriefing process available when these issues arose. Others from user organisations suggested that many questions asked of users were "offensive" and "stereotyping". Some user organisation staff also expressed concern over where the findings of research were disseminated and how these findings were used.

Building partnerships and collaborations

There was unanimous agreement that the research process worked well when an equitable partnership between researchers, community organisations and the groups being researched was formed. This meant involving community organisations and affected groups from the very beginning of the research process. Devising clear strategies to involve community organisations and those being researched was fundamental. This meant establishing, at the beginning of the process, clear expectations about levels of involvement, time frames and modes of ongoing feedback and final dissemination of findings. Many of those consulted stated that it was important to invite representatives from community organisations and affected communities onto steering and advisory committees. Finally, any partnership needed to take into account the research needs of the organisation as well as the researcher. For example, while many organisations saw value in quantitative research they also recognized the way in which qualitative research could directly inform the production of education materials and strategies.

Understanding social research: The need for capacity building

There was widespread acknowledgement among both user groups and hepatitis councils that they have a limited understanding of social research, its uses, advantages and limitations, and its relationship to education. Many stressed the need for capacity-building around these issues and offered the following suggestions:

- Existing "get-togethers", for example the Hepatitis C Educators Workshop and the Australasian Conference on Hepatitis C, could be used as an opportunity to bring researchers and educators together to build capacity and workshop research findings.
- A clearinghouse for hepatitis C research could be established so that research can be disseminated in a timely fashion.
- The Social Research Register should be updated so that people in community organisations can make contact with researchers who are doing work in their field.
- A list-server established so that dialogue could take place online.
- An education-research liaison staff position should be established to build capacity and workshop findings with community organisations.
- A model needs to be developed so that community organisations can be "skilled up" and supported to do action research and other applied research methods such as rapid assessment procedure and needs assessment.
- Where possible, researchers should return to organisations to workshop findings and discuss the applicability of findings to education. It would be useful to discuss reports or papers when they are in draft form as waiting for final publication means that education programs are not informed by research. Timeliness of dissemination is important.

The products of research

Those consulted found executive summaries in reports and one page sheets summarizing findings to be most useful. Many commented that research findings should be concise and written in accessible language. Easy-to-read graphs were considered an appropriate mode of delivering information. Due to low literacy levels among some groups, it was suggested that in some cases research findings could be disseminated in audio or video tape form.

Mechanisms for producing research priorities

There was a widespread recognition of the need to develop mechanisms to facilitate on-going dialogue between researchers, community organisations, affected groups and government. An ongoing dialogue would allow the research agenda to become responsive to changes "on-the-ground" which would in turn, lead to research that better informed the development of relevant education programs. Those working in hepatitis C education acknowledged the relatively dispersed nature of the sector, both for educators and researchers. This dispersal meant that it was important to develop a mechanism or mechanisms for feeding back research findings and setting research priorities. Suggestions for ongoing mechanism/s to set the research agenda included:

- An annual consultation round, similar to the one conducted for this project or one conducted by the peak bodies on behalf of the constituents.
- A broader annual consultation that took in the Haemophilia Foundation and key stakeholders working outside user organisations and hepatitis councils.
- The use of existing meetings such as the Hepatitis C Educators Workshop to consult with stakeholders.
- An online consultation process that could be linked to the development of a listserver and/or online bulletin board or chat room.
- An annual meeting specifically designed to discuss the research agenda involving community, researchers, government and other stakeholders.
- An education liaison person could feedback community research priorities in an ongoing fashion.

In summary, the majority of organisations acknowledged the need for strategic social research and supported the idea of collaborating on social research studies providing the partnership was equitable and ethical. All recognized the need for capacity building in regard to the types, uses and limitations of social research and the relationship between social research and the development and delivery of effective education. Most were interested in building the capacity of community organisations to conduct applied research, where appropriate. There was widespread support for creating mechanisms to facilitate on on-going dialogue with social researchers in order to make the research agenda responsive to changes in the field and to provide a means for timely feedback of research findings.

Appendix 1

Bibliography 1:

Literature related to areas outlined in the National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004

Published and unpublished articles, chapters in books and books organised under the headings of the National Hepatitis C Strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004 – Reducing hepatitis C transmission; Treatment; Health maintenance, care and support; and reducing discrimination and stigma.

1. Reducing hepatitis C transmission

- Butler, T., Dolan, K., Ferson, M., McGuiness, L., Brown, P. & Robertson, P. (1997). Hepatitis B and C in New South Wales prisons. Prevalence and risk factors. *Medical Journal of Australia, 166*: 127-130.
- Carruthers, S.J. & Loxley, W. (1994). Hepatitis C and young drug users some methodological considerations. In A. Daly (Ed.), *Proceedings of the 10th Mandurah addiction research symposium, Mandurah, WA, 9th-10th February,* WA Alcohol and Drug Authority, WA.
- Carruthers, S. & Loxley, W. (1995). Hepatitis C and young drug users: Are they about to join the epidemic? *Australian Journal of Public Health*, *19*(4): 421-424.
- Carruthers, S. (1999, August). *In the eye of the camera for prevention*. Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Carruthers, S. & Loxley, W. (in press). Attitudes to novice heroin injectors towards non-injecting routes of administration to prevent the transmission of blood borne viruses. Submitted to *International Journal of Drug Policy*.
- Carruthers, S., Phillips, M., Lowley, W., & Bevan, J. (1997). The Australian study of HIV and injecting drug use. Part II: Predicting the risk. Hepatitis C and hepatitis B among Australian IDU. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 16*: 215-220.
- Chetwynd, J., Brunton, C., Blank, M., Plumridge, E. & Baldwin, D. (1995). Hepatitis C seroprevalence amongst injecting drug users attending a methadone programme. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, *108*: 364-366.
- Clarke, S. (1996). Nunkuwarrin Yunti, Nu-Hit Project. Out there too: Social research and pracitum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15,* South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Crane, P., & Williams, M. (in press). Educating young people new to injecting drug use about preventing hepatitis C. *Youth Studies Australia*.
- Crofts, N. (1994). Hepatitis C infection among injecting drug users: where do we go from here? [Editorial]. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 13*: 235-238.
- Crofts, N. (1999). Epidemiology and control of hepatitis C virus infection among injection drug users. In 1999 Global research network meeting on HIV prevention in drug-using

- populations, Second annual meeting report, Second Australian Conference on Hepatitis C, 12-15, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Crofts, N. (2000, April). *The challenge of hepatitis C: A test for harm reduction*. Paper presented at the 11th International Conference on the Reduction of Drug Related Harm, Jersey, Channel Islands.
- Crofts, N., Aitken, C. & Kaldor, J. (1999). The force of numbers: why hepatitis C is spreading among Australian injecting drug users while HIV is not. *Medical Journal of Australia*, *170*: 220-221.
- Crofts, N and Herkt, D. (1995). A history of peer-based drug-user groups in Australia. *The Journal of Drug Issues* 25(3): 599-616.
- Crofts, N., Hopper, J., Bowden, D.S., Breschkin, A.M., Milner, R. & Locarnini, S.A. (1993). Hepatitis C virus infection among a cohort of Victorian injecting drug users. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 159: 237-241.
- Crofts, N., Hopper, J., Milner, R. Breschkin, A., Bowden, D., & Locarnini, S. (1994). Blood-borne virus infections among Australian injecting drug users: Implications for spread of HIV. *European Journal of Epidemiology, 10*: 687-694.
- Crofts, N., Jolley, D. & Kaldor, J. (1997). The epidemiology of HCV infection among injecting drug users in Australia. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 51*: 692-697.
- Crofts, N., Louie, R., Rosenthal, D. & Jolley, D. (1996). The first hit: Circumstances surrounding initiation into injecting. *Addiction*, *91*(8): 1187-1196.
- Crofts, N. Thompson, S., Wale, E. & Hernberger, F. (1996). Risk behaviours for blood-borne viruses in a Victorian prison. *ANZ Journal of Criminology*, *29*: 20-29.
- Crofts, N. Steward, T., & Hearne, P, et al. (1995). Spread of blood borne viruses among Australian Prison entrants. *British Medical Journal*, *310*: 285-8.
- Dear, E.M. (1994). Risk Taking, 'Negotiated safety' and hepatitis C: A study of needle sharing behaviour amongst injecting drug users. *Proceedings of the 10th Mandurah addiction research symposium, Mandurah, WA, 9th-10th February,* WA Alcohol and Drug Authority, WA.
- Dolan, K (1997, March). Why is there conflicting evidence of hepatitis transmission in prisons? Paper presented at the First Australasian Conference on Hepatitis C, Sydney.
- Dolan, K. (2001). Can hepatitis C transmission be reduced in Australian prisons? Editorial. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 174(8): 378-379.
- Dolan, K. & Crofts, N. (2000). A review of risk behaviours, transmission and prevention of blood borne viral infections in Australians prisons. In D. Shewan & J. Davies (Eds.), *Drug use and prisons: An international perspective* (pp. 215-232). Amsterdam: Harwood.
- Donoghue, M., Dolan, K. & Stimson, G. (1992). Lifestyle factors and social circumstances of syringe sharing in injecting drug users. *British Journal of Addiction*, 87: 993-1003.
- Dore G., Kaldor J. & McCaughan G. (1997). Systematic review of role of polymerase chain reaction in defining infectiousness among people infected with hepatitis C virus. *British Medical Journal*, *315*(7104): 333-337.
- Fry, C., Rumbold, G., & Lintzeris, N. (1997). Hepatitis C, hepatitis B and HIV risk practices for injecting drug users: Developing the BBV TRAQ (Blood Borne Virus Transmission Risk Assessment Questionnaire). In R. Godding & G. Whelan (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 1997 autumn School of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs, Department of Drug and Alcohol Studies,* St Vincent's Hospital, Melbourne: 21-28.

- Gaskin, S, Brazil, C, Pickering, D. (2000). The sharing of injecting paraphernalia by intravenous drug users (IDUs) within a Worcestershire cohort, with specific reference to water and filters. *International Journal of Drug Policy*, 11: 423-435.
- Hagan, H. et al. (2001). Sharing of drug preparation equipment as a risk factor for hepatitis C. *American Journal of Public Health, 91*: 42-46.
- Hagan, H., Des Jarlias, D., Friedman, S., Purchase, D. & Alter, M. (1995). Reduced risk of hepatitis B and hepatitis C among injection drug users in the Tacoma syringe exchange program. *American Journal of Public Health, 85*: 1531-1537.
- Hagan, H. McGough, J., Thiede, H., Weiss, N.S., Hopkins, S. & Alexander, E. (1999). Syringe exchange and risk of infection with hepatitis B and C viruses. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 149: 203-213.
- Hagan, H., Thiede, H., Weiss, N., Hopkins, S., Duchin, S. & Alexander, E. (2001). Sharing of drug preparation equipment as a risk factor for hepatitis C. *American Journal of Public Health*, *91*: 274-276.
- Higgs, P., Maher, L., Jordens, J., Dunlop, A., & Sargent, P. (2001). Harm reduction and drug users of Vietnamese ethnicity. *Drugs and Alcohol Review*, *20*(2): 241-247.
- Hope, V., Judd A., Hickman M., Lamagni, T. Hunter, G. Stimson, GV, Jones, S. Donovan, L., Parry, J. & Gill, O. (2001). Prevalence of hepatitis C among injection drug users in England and Wales: Is harm reduction working? *American Journal of Public Health*, *9*(1): 38-42.
- Ireland, K., Southgate, E., Knox, S., Van de Ven, P., Howard, J. & Kippax, S. (1999). *Using and 'the scene': Patterns and contexts of drug use among Sydney gay men.* National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW, Sydney.
- Kaldor, J., Archer G.T. & Buring, M.L., et al. (1992). Risk factors for hepatitis C virus infection in blood donors: a case-control study, *The Medical Journal of Australia, 157*: 227-230.
- Law, M. (1999). Modelling the hepatitis C epidemic in Australia. Hepatitis C Virus Projections Working Group. *Journal of Gastroenterology and Hepatology*, *14*(11): 1100-1107.
- Lindsay, J., Smith A. & Rosenthal, D. Uncertain knowledge: a national survey of high school students' knowledge and beliefs about hepatitis C. (1999). *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 23(2): 135-139.
- Loxley, W. (1999, December). *Doing the possible: harm reduction, injecting drug use and blood borne viral infections.* Paper presented at the Australian Society for HIV medicine: 11th Annual Conference, Perth.
- Loxley, W., Bevan, J. & Carruthers, S. (1998). Sex, gender, drugs and risk: The Australian study of HIV and injecting drug use. *International Journal on Drugs Policy*, *9*: 255-262.
- Loxley, W., Bolleter, A. & Carruthers, S. (2001). *Talking about testing: Opportunities for prevention in blood borne virus testing and vaccination with injectors.* Perth: National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University.
- Loxley, W., Carruthers, S., Wodak, A., Crofts, N., Dolan, K., Gaughwin, M. & Kaldor, J. (1994). Patterns of infection. *National AIDS Bulletin*, *9*(2): 26-27.
- Loxley, W., Phillips, M., Carruthers, S. & Bevan, J. (1997). The Australian Study of HIV and Injecting Drug Use. Part I: Prevalence for HIV, hepatitis B and hepatitis C among injecting drug users in four Australian cities. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 16*: 207-214.
- MacDonald, M., Crofts, N & Kaldor, J. (1996). Transmission of hepatitis C virus: Rates, routes and cofactors. *Epidemiologic Reviews*, *18*(2): 137-148.
- MacDonald, M & Wodak A (1999). Preventing transmission of hepatitis C: a management guide for general practitioners. *Australian Family Physician*, December.

- MacDonald, M., Wodak, A., Dolan, K, van Beek, I., Cunningham, P. & Kaldor, J. (2000). Hepatitis C virus antibody prevalence among injecting drug users at selected needle and syringe programs in Australia. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 172: 57-61.
- McGeorge, J., Crofts, N. and Burrows, C. (1996). Disaffected or disinfected: The national disinfection of used equipment project. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15, South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Maher, L., Sargent, P., Higgs, P., Crofts, N., Kelsall, J. & Le, T. (2001). Risk behaviours in young Indo-Chinese injecting drug users in Sydney and Melbourne. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *25*(1): 50-54.
- Makkai, T. & McAllister, I. (2001). The prevalence of tattooing and body piercing amongst the Australian community. Australian Institute of Criminology, ANU, Canberra.
- Marlatt, G. ed. (1998). Harm reduction: pragmatic strategies for managing high-risk behaviors. New York: Guildford Press.
- Mischewski, A., Smith, A., Wyldbore, J. & Stewart-Stevens, H. (1999). Structures of prevention: A safe-sex/safe-injecting audit of Mouth Alexander Shire, A methodological pilot. Australian *Journal of Rural Health*, 8: 201-207.
- Robertson, R. ed. (1998). Management of drug users in the community: a practical handbook. Arnold, London.
- Rouen, D. & Dolan, K. (2001). Needle and syringe programs in Australia. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *25*(2): 187.
- Ross, C. (1996). Injecting drug use by indigenous people in Brisbane: Perspectives of service providers and the community (abstract only). Out there too: Social research and practum forum. Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15, South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Rutter, S., Dolan, K. & Wodak, A. (1997). Rooms for rent: injecting and harm reduction in Sydney. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *21*(1): 105.
- Sladden, T., Hickey, A., Dunn, T., & Beard, J. (1997). Hepatitis C transmission on the north coast of New South Wales: Explaining the unexplained. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 166: 290-293.
- Smyth, B., McMahon, J., O'Connor, J. & Ryan, J. (1999). Knowledge regarding hepatitis C among injecting drug users. *Drugs: Education, Prevention and Policy, 6*(2): 257-264.
- Southgate, E. & Hopwood, M. (1999). *The drug use and gay men project: Issue papers*. National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW, Sydney.
- Southgate, E., Blair, D. & Hopwood, M. (2000). *The closure and relocation of the St Marys needle and syringe program: Social and health impact study.* Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW.
- Southgate, E., Kippax, S., Bammer, G., Isaac-Toua, G, Hopwood, M. & Aspin, C. (2001). *Methadone injection in NSW*. Sydney: National Centre HIV Social Research, UNSW.
- Southgate, E. & Hopwood, M. (2000). The role of folk pharmacology and lay experts in harm reduction: Sydney gay drug using networks. *The International Journal of Drug Policy, 12*(4): 321-335.
- Thomas, D., Vlahov, D., Solomon, L. et al. (1995). Correlates of hepatitis C virus infections among injection drug users. *Medicine*, 74: 212-220.

- Van Beek, I., Dwyer, G., Luo, K., & Kaldor, J. (1998). Infection with HIV and hepatitis C virus among injecting drug users in a prevention setting: retrospective cohort study. *British Medical Journal*, *37*: 433-437.
- Van Beek, I., Luo, K., & Dwyer, R. et al. (1995). HIV and hepatitis C Virus: Incidence and risk factors among injecting drug users attending a primary health care center, *Australian Society for HIV Medicine, 7th Annual Conference,* November 1995: 30.
- Van Beek, I., Buckley, R., & Steward, M., et al. (1994). Risk factors for hepatitis C among injecting drug users in Sydney, *Genitourin Medical Journal*, 70: 321-4.
- Van de Ven, P., Youdell, D., Smith, A., Mistler, G. & Ying, P. (2001). *Hepatitis and health: A Survey of high school students in NSW*. National Centre in HIV Social Research, Sydney.
- Watters, J. et al. (1994). Syringe and needle exchange as HIV/AIDS prevention for injection drug users. *JAMA*, *271*: 115-120.
- Watson, R. Crofts, N. Mitchell, C., Aitken, C., & Thompson, S. (1999). Risk factors for Hepatitis C in the Victorian population: a telephone survey. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *23*(6): 58-62.
- Wilson, S. (1996). Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Council. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15,* South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.

2. Treatment of hepatitis C infection

- Australian Hepatitis Council and the Australian National Council on AIDS and Related Diseases. (1999). *Contact 99: Post Test Information for Hepatitis C*, ANCARD, Sydney.
- Australian HIV Surveillance Report (1999). *HCV The Evolving Epidemic*. National Centre in HIV Epidemiology and Clinical Research, Sydney, 15(4), October.
- Crofts, N. et al. (1997). Methadone maintenance and hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users. *Addiction*, *92*: 999-1005.
- Davis, G. & Rodrigue, J. (2001). Treatment of chronic hepatitis C in active drug users. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *345*(3): 215-217.
- Edlin, B. et al. (2001). Is it justifiable to withhold treatment for hepatitis C from illicit-drug users? *New England Journal of Medicine, 245*(3): 211-214.
- Johanson, J. (1999). Hepatitis C therapy: Is it really worth it? *The American Journal of Gastroenterology*, *94*(5): 1412-1413.
- Lazzari, C., De Ronchi, D., Mori, F., Attard, L., Verucchi, G. & Chiodo, F. (1995). Interferon alpha and chronic hepatitis. Letters. *Human Psychopharmacology*, *10*: 239-242.
- Locarnini, S. (1999, August). *Chronic hepatitis C: Present and future therapy*. Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Maunder, R., Hunter, J., & Feinman, S. (1998). Interferon treatment of hepatitis C associated with symptoms of PTSD. *Psychosomatics*, *39*(5): 461-464.
- Rosenthal, R. & Westreich, L. (1999). Treatment of persons with dual diagnoses of substance use disorder and other psychological problems. In McCrady, B. & Epstein, E. eds. *Addictions: a comprehensive guidebook*, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Salmond, S. (1999, August). *Putting the use of complementary therapies to the scientific test.* Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.

- Soriano, S., Rodriguez-Rosado, R., & Garcia-Samaniego, J. (1999). Management of chronic hepatitis C in HIV-infected patients, *AIDS*, *13*: 539-546.
- Stace, N. & Chapman, B. (1999, August). *Interferon/ribavirin versus interferon alone for the treatment of hepatitis C.* Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.

3. Health maintenance, care and support

- Australian Hepatitis Council and the Australian National Council on AIDS and Related Diseases (ANCARD). (1999). *Contact 99: Post test Information for Hepatitis C,* ANCARD.
- Bayliss, M., Gandek, B., Bungay, K, Sugano, D., Hsu, M., & Ware, Jr., J. (1998). A questionnaire to assess the generic and disease-specific health outcomes of patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Quality of Life Research, 7*: 39-55.
- Bonkovsky, H., Woolley, J., & the Consensus Interferon Study Group. (1999). Reduction of health-related quality of life in chronic hepatitis C and improvement with interferon therapy. *Hepatology*, *29*(1): 264-270.
- Campora, C. (1999, August). Support? What Support? Hepatitis C Council of Victoria. Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Carithers, R., Sugano, D. & Bayliss, M. (1996). Health assessment for chronic HCV infection: Results of quality of life. *Digestive Diseases and Sciences, 41*(12) (December 1996 Supplement): 75S-80S.
- Clemensen, L.R., Eshelman, A.K. & Belville-Robertson, T.L. (1999). Psychiatric and behavioural side effects of alpha interferon for treatment of hepatitis C: A review, Annual Meeting. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *61*(1): 102.
- Coates, E. & Logan, R. (1999, August). *Poor oral health: A factor in quality of life for people living with hepatitis C infection*. Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Cregan, J., Loveday, S., Knox, S. & Kippax, S. (1999, August). *Perspectives on HCV: Analysis of calls to a community based hepatitis C telephone information and support line* Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Crisp, B., Gilbertson, R. and Barber, J. (1996). Ladies before gentlemen? The order of use of shared needles and syringes. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15, South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Crossen, K.A., Brunton, C.R., Plumridge, E. & Jang, W. (1999, August). *The experiences of people living with hepatitis C.* Paper presented at 'HCV The evolving epidemic': 2nd Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Davis, G.L., Balart, L.A., Schiff, E.R., Lindsay, K., Bodenheimer Jr., H.C., Perrillo, R.P., Carey, W., Jacobson, I.M., Payne, J., Dienstag, J.L., Van Thiel, D.H., Tamburro, C., Martino, F.P., Sangvhi, B., & Albrecht, J.K. (1994). Assessing health-related quality of life in chronic hepatitis C using the sickness impact profile. *Clinical Therapeutics*, *16*(2): 334-343.
- English, R. & Foster, G. (1997). Living with Hepatitis C. London: Robinson Press.

24

- Eshelman, A., Belville-Robertson, T. and Clemensen, L.R. (1999). Psychological issues in hepatitis C. Abstract of paper for 1999 Annual Meeting. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *61*(1): 87.
- Everson, G.T. & Weinberg, H. (1999). *Living with Hepatitis C: A Survivor's Guide*. Revised Edition. Hatherleigh Press, New York.

- Foster, G.R., Goldin, R.D., & Thomas, H.C. (1998). Chronic hepatitis C virus infection causes a significant reduction in quality of life in the absence of cirrhosis. *Hepatology*, *27*(1): 209-212.
- Gifford, S., O'Brien, M., Banwell, C & Bammer, G. (2001). Women living with hepatitis C: A survey of women living with hepatitis C in Victoria and the ACT- A Summary of findings, School of Health Sciences, Deakin University, Melbourne.
- Glacken, M. Kernohan, G. and Coates, V. (2001). Diagnosed with Hepatitis C: A descriptive exploratory study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *38*:107-116.
- Gupta, L., Puech, M.C. & Ward, J.E. (2000). Service expectations, self-reported educational and resource needs of general practitioners in managing patients with hepatitis C. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 19(1): 65-71.
- Hepatitis C Council of NSW. (1998). Towards an HCV Education Strategy for Health Care Workers, *Planning Workshop Proceedings*, 3 July.
- Kleinert, S. (1999). Hepatitis C virus clearance improves quality of life, The Lancet, 354: 655.
- Koff, R.S. (1998). Impaired health-related quality of life in chronic hepatitis C: The how, but not the why. *Hepatology*, *29*(1): 277-279.
- Krug, G. (1996). Hepatitis C and the social roles of support groups. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15,* South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Miyaoka, H., Otsubo, T., Kamijima, K., Ishii, M., Onuki, M., & Mitamura, K. (1999). Depression from interferon therapy in patients with hepatitis C. Letter. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *156*(7): 1120.
- Monji, AK., Yoshida, I., Tashiro, K., Hayashi, Y., & Tashiro, N. (1998). A case of persistent manic depressive illness induced by interferon-alpha in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C. *Psychosomatics*, *39*(6): 562-564.
- Owens, D.K. (1998). In the eye of the beholder: Assessment of health-related quality of life. *Hepatology*, *27*(1): 292-293.
- Sasaki, N., Fukatsu, R., Takahata, N., Furuse, T. & Nagano, M. (1997). Psychiatric symptoms induced by interferon treatment: Discussion concerning the transient syndrome of Wieck. (English abstract). Seishin Igaku Clinical Psychiatry, 39(1): 51-58.
- Singh, N., Gayowski, T., Wagener, M.M. & Marino, I.R. (1999). Quality of life, functional status, and depression in male liver transplant recipients with recurrent viral hepatitis C. *Transplantation*, *67*(1): 69-72.
- Sladden, T.J., Hickey, A.R., Dunn, T.M. & Beard, J.R. (1998). Hepatitis C virus infection: Impacts on behaviour and lifestyle. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *22*(4): 509-511.
- Teague, W., Hepworth, J. & Krug, G. (1999). Support for patients with hepatitis C: An exploratory qualitative study of medical specialists' perceptions. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *23*(2): 201-203.
- Ware, J. Jr, Bayliss, M., Mannocchia, M., Davis, G., & the International Hepatitis Interventional Therapy Group. (1999). Health-related quality of life in chronic hepatitis C: Impact of disease and treatment response. *Hepatology*, *30*(2): 550-555.
- Wodak, A. (1997a). Hepatitis C: Waiting for the Grim Reaper. Editorial. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 166: 284-285.
- Wood, C. (1997). Living with hepatitis C. Connexions, 17(4): 14-17.

4. Preventing Discrimination and reducing stigma and isolation

- Burrows, D. & Bassett, B. (1996). *Discrimination against People Living with Hepatitis C,* Equal Opportunity Commission Victoria, Melbourne.
- National Hepatitis C Councils' Education Reference Group with Burrows, D and Bassett, B. (1996). Meeting the Needs of People in Australia Living with Hepatitis C, Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services, Canberra.
- Crofts, N., Louie, R. & Loff, B. (1997). The next plague: Stigmatisation and discrimination related to hepatitis C virus infection in Australia. *Health and Human Rights, 2*(2): 86-97.
- Gifford, S., O'Brien, M., Banwell, C & Bammer, G. (2001). Women living with hepatitis C: A survey of women living with hepatitis C in Victoria and the ACT- A summary of findings, School of Health Sciences, Deakin University, Melbourne.
- Puplick, C (1997, March). *Discrimination: The underlying epidemic*. Paper presented at the First Australasian conference on hepatitis C, Sydney.
- Anti-Discrimination Board of New South Wales. (2001). *C-Change: Report into the enquiry into hepatitis C related discrimination.* Sydney: Author.

5. Other

- Australian Hepatitis Council. (2001). Policy Series: Part 1. Canberra: Australian Hepatitis Council.
- Bell, J., Batey, R., & Farrell, G. et al. (1990). Hepatitis C virus in intravenous drug users. The *Medical Journal of Australia*, 153: 274-276.
- Brown, K. and Crofts, N. (1998). Health care costs of a continuing epidemic of hepatitis C virus infection among injecting drug users. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 22: 384-8.
- Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. (2000). Hepatitis C Informing Australia's National Response. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. (2001). National Hepatitis C Resource Manual. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Cregan, J (1998). Hepatitis C, prisons and public health. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, 22(1): 5-7.
- Crofts, N., Dore, G. & Locarnini, S. (2001). *Hepatitis C: An Australian perspective*. Melbourne: IP Communications.
- Dolan, M. (1997). The hepatitis C handbook. Catalyst Press, London.
- Hepworth, J. & Krug, G. (1997). Hepatitis C and policy implementation: Ethics as a dialogic process for resource allocation [Editorial]. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, *21*(1): 4-7.
- Hepworth, J. & Krug, G. (1999). A socio-cultural perspective on the effects of a new virus on a community's health. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *4*(2): 237-246.
- Hulse, G.K. (1997). Australia's public health response to HIV and HCV: A role for 'affected' communities. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 16*: 171-176.
- Krug, G.J. (1995). Hepatitis C: Discursive domains and epistemic chasms. Journal of Contemporary *Ethnography*, *24*(3): 299-323.
- Loxley, W. (1996, May). *Social research with injecting drug users*. Paper presented at National Injecting Drug User Education and Prevention Forum, Sydney.
- Loxley, W (1997, March). *Hepatitis C in Australia: behavioural and social research.* Keynote Address presented at the First Australasian Conference on Hepatitis C, Sydney.

- Miller, P. (2001). A critical review of harm minimization ideology in Australia. *Critical Public Health*, *11*(2): 167-178.
- Moore, T. and Burrown, D. (1996). Care and support needs of HIV positive injecting drug users in Australia. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15,* South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Tomas, S. (1996). The importance of peer involvement in research with injecting drug users. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15, South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.*
- Vincent, N. and Shoobridge, J. (1996). Rapid assessment procedures: Informing the development of responses to hazardous and harmful amphetamine use. Out there too: Social research and practum forum. *Conference proceedings from the South Australian conference on culture, communities, sexuality, drug use, sexual health, living with HIV/AIDS, living with hepatitis, March 14 & 15*, South Australian Health Commission, Adelaide.
- Wodak, A (1997b). Hepatitis C in Australia. The Hepatitis C Review, 18: 16-17.
- Wodak, A. & Dolan, K. (1994). A tale of three viruses. Today's Life Science, 6(7): 60-64.

Appendix 2

Bibliography 2: Literature reviews, policy and reports

This bibliography lists existing literature reviews, policy documents and government and non-government reports (including research and consultation papers).

Literature Reviews

- Dolan, K., Topp, L. & MacDonald, M. (2000). *Needle and syringe programs: A review of the evidence*. Sydney: Australian National Council on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related Diseases.
- Dowsett, G., Turney, L., Woolcock, G., Rance, T. & Thomson, N. (1999). *Hepatitis C prevention education for injecting drug users in Australia*. Melbourne: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health and Society, La Trobe University.
- Holly, C. (2001). *Review of Literature on injecting drug use within urban indigenous communities.* Adelaide: Aboriginal Drug and Alcohol Council. Unpublished.
- Hopwood, M. & Southgate, E. (2001). *Living with hepatitis C: A sociological review.* Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW.
- Meyerhoff, G. (2000). *Injecting drug use in urban indigenous communities: A literature review with a particular focus on the Darwin Area*. Darwin: Danila Dilba Medical Service, Education and Training Centre.
- Sykes, G. (1996). *Hepatitis C and injecting drug use: Review of social research.* Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services.
- Zinkeiwicz, L. (2001). *Initiation and Transition to injection: A literature review.* Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW. Draft outline.

Policy Documents

- Australian Health Ministers Advisory Council. (1994). *National hepatitis C action plan.* Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.
- Australian Health Ministers Advisory Council. (1995). *Nationally coordinated hepatitis C education and prevention approach*. Canberra: Australian Government Publishing Service.
- Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. (2000). *National hepatitis C strategy 1999-2000 to 2003-2004*. Canberra: Publications Production Unit.
- Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. (2000). *National hepatitis C testing policy:* consultation draft. Canberra: Australian National Council on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related Diseases & Intergovernmental Committee on AIDS, Hepatitis C and Related Diseases.
- Communicable Diseases Network Australia and New Zealand Hepatitis C Surveillance Committee. (1999). *Australian hepatitis C surveillance strategy*. Canberra: Department of Health and Aged Care.

- Fry, C., Marcon, M., Murphy, A., Mercer, C., Oehr, T., Ramsay, M., Shrubsole, D., Homburg, D., Mead, J. (1999). *Action plan for responding to HCV in the city of Yarra*. Melbourne: Hepatitis C Working Group, City of Yarra.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (1997). *A Strategy for the detection and management of hepatitis C in Australia*. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services, Canberra.
- New South Wales Health. (2000). *New South Wales hepatitis C strategy: 2000-2003*. Sydney: New South Wales Health Department.
- Queensland Health. (1998). Reducing the impact the Queensland health hepatitis C strategy, 1997-2000. Brisbane: Queensland Health.
- Victorian Department of Health and Community Services. (1995). *Management, control and prevention of hepatitis C: A strategy for Victoria*. Melbourne: Victorian Department of Health and Community Services.

Government Reports

- Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care. (2000). *Hepatitis C: Informing Australia's national response*. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Crofts, N. (1999). *Epidemiology of the hepatitis C virus*. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Dolan, K. (2000). *The epidemiology of hepatitis C infection in prison populations* [discussion paper]. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- Department of Health and Family Services. (1996). *Draft 1996 national IDU education forum summary report*. Canberra: Department of Health and Family Services.
- Kevin, M.(2000). Addressing the use of drugs in prison: A survey of prisoners in New South Wales, Research Publication No.43. Sydney: New South Wales Department of Corrective Services.
- Lowe, D. & Cotton, R. (1999). *Hepatitis C: A review of Australia's response*. Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (1996). *Infection control in the health care setting*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- National Hepatitis C Councils' Education Reference Group with Burrows, D and Bassett, B. (1996). *Meeting the needs of people in Australia living with hepatitis C.* Canberra: Commonwealth Department of Health and Family Services.
- Parliament of NSW Legislative Council, Standing Committee on Social Issues. (1998). *Hepatitis C:* The neglected epidemic: Inquiry into hepatitis C in New South Wales, Report number 16. Sydney: Parliament of NSW.
- Shiell, A. (1998a). *Economic analysis for the review of the national hepatitis C action plan,* Unpublished manuscript.
- Shiell, A. (1998b). *Economic analyses for hepatitis C: A review of Australia's response*. Canberra: Department of Health and Aged Care.

Other Reports

Australian National Council on AIDS and Related Diseases Hepatitis Sub-Committee. (1998). Hepatitis C virus projections working group: Estimates and projections of the Hepatitis C virus epidemic in Australia. Sydney: National Centre in HIC Epidemiology and Clinical Research, UNSW.

- Bevan, J., Loxley, W., & Carruthers, S. (1996). *Getting on and getting off in Perth, 1994: Report of the Australian Study of HIV and Injecting Drug Use, ASHIDU.* Perth: National Centre for Research into the Prevention of Drug Abuse, Curtin University of Technology.
- Burrows, D. & Bassett, B. (1996). *Discrimination against people living with hepatitis C.* Melbourne: Equal Opportunity Commission Victoria.
- Carruthers, S. and Loxley, W. (1994). *Hepatitis C and young drug users*. Perth: National Centre for Research into the Prevention of Drug Abuse.
- Dolan, K. (2000). Surveillance and prevention of hepatitis C infection in Australian prisons: A discussion paper (Technical report No.95). Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, UNSW.
- Dowsett, G., Turney, L, Woolcock, G., Rance, A, & Thomson, N. (1999). *Hepatitis C prevention education for injecting drug users in Australia: A research report.* Melbourne: Australian Research Centre in Sex, Health & Society, LaTrobe University.
- Edwards, G. Frances, R., & Lehmann, T. (n.d.). *Community report: Victorian Aboriginal Health Service Co-operative Ltd: Injecting drug use project*. Melbourne: The Victorian Aboriginal Health Service Co-operative.
- Fitzgerald, J. (1995). *Ethical and legal issues when conducting research into illegal behaviours: Proceedings of a forum,* 8 August. Melbourne: University of Melbourne.
- Fry, C., Rumbold, G., & Lintzeris, N. (1998). *The blood borne virus transmission risk assessment questionnaire (BBV-TRAQ): Administration and procedures manual.* Melbourne: Turning Point Alcohol & Drug Centre Inc.
- Fry, C., Rumbold, G., & Lintzeris, N. (1998). *The BBV-TRAQ Project: A Report on the development of the blood borne virus transmission risk assessment questionnaire*. Melbourne: Turning Point Alcohol & Drug Centre Inc.
- Kelsall, J., Higgs, P. & Crofts, N. *The Vietnamese harm reduction project: Stage 2, Summary.* Melbourne: The Centre for Harm Reduction, Macfarlane Burnet Centre for Medical Research.
- Lenton, S. & Tan-Quigley, A. (1997). *The Fitpack study: A Survey of 'hidden' drug injectors with minimal drug treatment experience*. Perth: National Centre for Research into the Prevention of Drug Abuse, Curtin University of Technology.
- Loxley, W., Carruthers, S. & Bevan, J. (1995). *In the same vein: First report of the Australian study of HIV and injecting drug use, ASHIDU.* Perth: National Centre for Research into the Prevention of Drug Use, Curtin University of Technology.
- Loxley, W., Davidson, P., Heale, P & Sullivan, P. (2000). *Drawing blood: Injecting drug users, blood borne viruses, testing and vaccination*. Perth: National Centre for Research into the Prevention of Drug Use, Curtin University of Technology.
- Madden, A. (1997). *Draft consultation paper: Practical and ethical guidelines for research involving people who use drugs illicitly.* Sydney: NSW Users and AIDS Association in collaboration with the NUAA IDU Research Working Group.
- Maher, L. Dixon, D., Lynskey M. & Hall, W. (1998). Running the risks of heroin, health and harm in South West Sydney (Monograph No 38). Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, UNSW.
- Maher, L. Sargent, P., Higgs, P., Crofts, N. Le, T., Kelsall, J., & Kerger, M. (2000). Sharing knowledge to protect our community: A pilot program for research, risk reduction and peer education with Indo-Chinese drug users. Sydney: Centre for International and Multicultural Health, UNSW.
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (1994). *Hepatitis C: Epidemiology, natural history, control and treatment*. Canberra: National Health and Medical Research Council.

- National Hepatitis C Councils Education Reference Group. (1996). *Meeting the needs of people in Australia living with hepatitis C*. Perth: Hepatitis C Council of WA Inc.
- National Hepatitis C Data Base (1997). Report May 1997. Newcastle: John Hunter Hospital.
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. (1998). General Practitioner's knowledge, attitudes and reported actions to human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus infections. Adelaide: Royal Australian College of General Practitioners.
- Rutter, S., Dolan, K., Wodak, A. & Heilpern, H. (2001). *Prison-based syringe exchange: A review of international research and program development, Technical Report No. 112.* Sydney: National Drug and Alcohol Research Centre, UNSW.
- Sisko, H. (1996). Living with Hep C: Research into support needs of people diagnosed with the hepatitis C virus in Sydney/NSW, Social Research Project for the Hepatitis C Council of NSW, Research Report. Sydney: Hepatitis C Council of NSW.

Appendix 3

Bibliography 3: Related social research

This bibliography references select articles and books on social research related to but not specifically on hepatitis C. The areas covered are: Living with chronic illness; living with cirrhosis; mental health, depression and physical illness; the clinical encounter; and alternative treatments.

Living with chronic illness

- Anderson, J. (1996). Empowering patients: issues and strategies. *Social Science and Medicine*, 43(5): 697-705.
- Ariela, R. (1995). Living with chronic illness. Research in the Sociology of Health Care, 12: 25-48.
- Ariela, R. (1998). Life with chronic illness: social and psychological dimensions. Westport: Praeger
- Aronowitz, R. (1998). *Making sense of illness: Science, society, and disease.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Atkin, K. & Ahmad, W. (2000). Pumping iron: compliance with chelation therapy among young people who have thalassaemia major. *Sociology of Health & Illness, 22*(4): 500-524.
- Bauld, C. Anderson, V. & Arnold, J. (1998). Psychosocial aspects of adolescent cancer survival. *Journal of Pediatrics & Child Health, 234*(2): 120-126.
- Berg-Weger, M. (2000). Depression as a mediator: Viewing caregiver well-being and strain in a different light. *Families in Society, 18*(2): 162-174.
- Biegel, D., Sales, E. & Schulz, R. (1991). Family care giving in chronic illness: Alzheimer's disease, cancer, heart disease, mental illness, and stroke. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Biegel, D., Sales, E., Schulz, R. (1991). Family care giving in chronic illness. Newbury Park: Sage Publications.
- Black, B. (2000). *Narratives of chronic illness: Toward an ethic of listening*: Hawthorn: Zadok Institute for Christianity and Society.
- Brannon, L. & Feist, J. (1997). *Health psychology: An introduction to behavior and health* (3rd Ed.). Los Angeles: Brooks/Cole Publishing Co.
- Calisal, A. (1997). Easy for you to say: Q & A's for teens living with chronic illness or disability. *Patient Educational Counselling*, *32*(3): 231-232.
- Charmaz, K. (1991). *Good days, bad days: The self in chronic illness and time.* New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.
- Chesla, C. (1999). Becoming resilient: Skill development in couples living with non-insulin dependent diabetes. In H. McCubbin & E. Thompson et al. (Eds.), *The dynamics of resilient families. Resiliency in families, Vol. 4.* Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Chinn, P. 1996. Living with chronic illness. *Advanced Nursing Science*, 18(3): R6-R6.

- Contrada, R. & Ashmore, R. (1999). *Self, social identity, and physical health: Interdisciplinary explorations.* New York: Oxford University Press.
- Cudney, S & Weinert, C. (2000). Computer-based support groups Nursing in cyberspace. *Journal of Computer Nursing*, 18(1): 35-43.
- Davis, R. (1998). Quiet pride: A portrait of the chronic illness journey of rural older adults. *Dissertation Abstracts International, 59*(5-B): 2121.
- Dimond, M. & Jones, L. (1983). *Chronic illness across the life span*. Norwalk: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Donoghue, P. & Siegel, M. (1992). Sick and tired of feeling sick and tired: Living with invisible chronic illness. New York: Norton
- Ekman, I., Ehnfors, M. & Norberg, A. (2000). The meaning of living with sever chronic heart failure as narrated by elderly people. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *14*(2): 130-136.
- Froland, D. (2000). Social support and social adjustment: implications for mental health professionals. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *36*(1): 61.
- Gibson, C. (1995). The process of empowerment in mothers of chronically ill children. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *21*(6): 1201-1210.
- Gignac, M. (2000). Adaptation to chronic illness and disability and its relationship to perceptions of independence and dependence. *Journal of Gerontology*, *55*(6): 362-373.
- Goldstein, M. (2000). *Travels with the wolf: A story of chronic illness*. Columbus: Ohio State University Press.
- Gullickson, C. (1993). My death nearing its future A Heideggerian hermeneutical analysis of the lived experience of persons with chronic illness. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *18*(9): 1386-1392.
- Hayden, S. (1993). Chronically ill and "feeling fine": A study of communication and chronic illness. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, *21*(3): 263-278.
- Kelly, M. (1987). Health policy and chronic illness. Society, 1(171): 33-39.
- Kleinman, A. (1988). The illness narratives: Suffering, healing, and the human condition. New York: Asic Books.
- Landis, B. (1996). Uncertainty, spiritual well-being, and psychosocial adjustment to chronic illness. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing, 17*(3): 217-231.
- Lewis, K. (1985). Successful living with chronic illness. New Jersey: Avery Publishing Group.
- Lubkin, I. (1990). Chronic illness: Impact and interventions. Boston: Jones and Bartlett Publishers.
- Lyndsay, D. (1996). Health Within Illness Experiences of Chronically Ill/Disabled People. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 24(3): 465-472.
- Lynn, J. (2000). Living and dying with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society, 48*(5): S91.
- Marris, V. (1996). Lives worth living: Women's experience of chronic illness. London: Harper Collins.
- Miller, J. (2000). *Coping with chronic illness: Overcoming powerlessness*. Philadelphia: F.A. Davis
- Morris, R. (2000). The paradox of the missing element in chronic care. *Journal of Aging and Social Policy*, 11(4): 1.

- McReynolds, C. (1999). Human immunodeficiency virus (HIV): The psychological and physiological effects of HIV in employment settings. *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: the Sciences & Engineering, 59*(8-B): 4527.
- Nettleton, S. (1995). The sociology of health and illness. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Olson, C. (1993). The life of illness: One woman's journey. New York: State University of New York Press
- Paterson, B. (2001). The shifting model of chronic illness. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, 33(1): 21-26.
- Paterson, B., Thorne, S. Crawford, J. & Tarko., M. (1999). Living with diabetes as a transformational experience. *Qualitative Health Research*, *9*(6): 786-802.
- Patterson, J. (1993). The role of family meanings in adaptation to chronic illness and disability. In A. Turnbull & J. Patterson et al. (Eds.), *Cognitive Coping, Families, and Disability*. Baltimore: Paul H. Brookes Publishing.
- Pennix, B. (1999). Exploring the effect of depression on physical disability: longitudinal evidence from the established populations for epidemiologic studies of the elderly. *American Journal of Public Health, 89*(9): 1346.
- Radley, A. (1994). *Making sense of illness: The social psychology of health and disease.* London: Sage.
- Register, C. (1987). *Living with chronic illness: Days of patience and passion*. New York: The Free Press.
- Roth, J. and Conrad, P. (Eds.). (1987). *The experience and management of chronic illness*. Greenwich: JAI Press.
- Schover, L. & Jensen, S. (1988). *Sexuality and chronic illness: A comprehensive approach*. New York: Guildford Press.
- Shifren, K. (1996). Individual differences in the perception of optimism and disease severity: A study among individual with Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *19*(3): 241-271.
- Shaul, M. (1995). From early twinges to mastery: The process of adjustment in living with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *8*(4): 290-297.
- Shuman, R. (1996). *The psychology of chronic illness: The healing work of patients, therapists and families*. New York: Basic books.
- Stewart, G, & Gregory, B. (1996). Themes of a long-term AIDS support group for gay men. *Counselling Psychologist*, *24*(2): 285-303.
- Taylor, S. & Field, D. (Eds.). (1997). The sociology of health care. Malden: Blackwell Science.
- Thompson, S. & Kyle, D. (2000). The role of perceived control in coping with the losses associated with chronic illness. In J. Harvey et al. (Ed.), *Loss and trauma: General and close relationship perspectives*. Philadelphia: Brunner-Routledge.
- Thorne, S. (1993). Negotiating health care: The social context of chronic illness. London: Sage.
- Thorne, S., Nyhlin, K. & Paterson, B. (2000). Attitudes toward patient expertise in chronic illness. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 27*(4): 303-311.
- Query, J, Reichelt, C., & Christoferson, L. (1990). Living with chronic illness: A retrospective study of patients shunted for hydrocephalus and their families. *Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology*, 32(2): 119-128.
- Schoeneman, S., Reznikoff, M. & Bacon, S. (1983). Personality variables in coping with the stress of a spouse's chronic illness. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *39*(3): 430-436.

- Smith, S. (2001). The effects of parental chronic kidney disease on the family. *Family Relations*, 50(2): 171-178.
- West, P. (1995). A stroke of genius: Illness and self-discovery. New York: Viking.
- Wheeler, E. & Dace-Lombard, J. (1989). Living creatively with chronic illness: Developing Skills for Transcending the Loss, Pain, and Frustration. London: Hyman.
- Williams, C. (2000). Doing health, doing gender: teenagers, diabetes and asthma. *Social Science & Medicine*, 11(4): 1.
- Winkley, L. (1990). Living with chronic illness: Consultation to a children's renal dialysis unit. *Journal of Child Psychotherapy*, *12*(2): 49-62.
- Wood, N., Yates, B. & Primomo, J. (1989). Supporting families during chronic illness. *The Journal of Nursing Scholarship*, *21*(1): 46-50.
- Wright, L. & Leahey, M. (Eds.). (1987). *The family and chronic illness*. Springhouse: Springhouse Corporation.
- Zola, I. (1991). Living with Chronic Illness: The experience of patients and their families. *Contemporary Sociology, 20*(6): 942-944.

Living with Cirrhosis

- Norton, R. (!986). *Cirrhosis mortality and morbidity in Australian women*. Sydney: NSW Drug and Alcohol Authority.
- Norton, R. & Batey, R. (1983). Why do women appear to develop liver disease more readily than men? Sydney: NSW Drug and Alcohol Authority.

Mental Health/Depression and Physical Illness

- Cella, D. & Perry, S. (1988). Depression and physical illness. In J. Mann (Ed.), *Phenomenology of depressive illness: Vol. 1. The depressive illness series*. New York: Human Sciences Press.
- Edwards, R., Suresh, R., Lynch, S., Clarkson, P. & Stanley, P. (2001). Illness perceptions and mood in chronic fatigue syndrome. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, *50*(20): 65-68.
- Nichols, K. (1993). Psychological care in physical illness. London: Chapman and Hall.
- Niven, C. (Ed.). (1993). *The health psychology of women*. Langhorne: Harwood Academic Publishers.
- Penedo, F., Antoni, M., Schneiderman, N. Ironson, G., Malow, R., Cruess, S. Hurwitz, B. & LaPerriere, A. (2001). Dysfunctional attitudes, coping, and depression among HIV-seropositive men who have sex with men. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *25*(5): 591-606.
- Robertson, M & Katona, C. (1996). Depression and physical illness. New York: J. Wiley.
- Sullivan, M. La Croix, A., Russon, J., & Walker, E. (2001). Depression and self-reported physical health in patients with coronary disease: Mediating and moderating factors. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *63*(2): 248-256.
- Williamson, G., Shaffer, D. & Parmelee, P. (2000). *Physical illness and depression in older adults: A handbook of theory, research and practice*. New York: Kluwer Academic.
- The Clinical Encounter (Doctor/Patient)
- Allen, S., Petrisek, A., Laliberte, L. & Linda, L (2001). Problems in doctor-patient communication: the case of younger women with breast cancer. *Critical Public Health*, *11*(1): 39-58.
- Blumer, I. (1999). What your doctor really thinks: Diagnosing the doctor-patient relationship. Toronto: The Dundurn Group.

- Fitzpatrick, M. (2001). *The tyranny of health: Doctors and the regulation of lifestyle*. London and New York: Routledge.
- O'Leary, J. (2000). The therapeutic relationship in complementary health care. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 31(2): 496.
- Race, K. & Wakeford, E. (2000). Dosing on time: Developing adherent practice with highly active anti-retroviral therapy. *Culture, Health and Sexuality, 2*(2): 213-228.
- Race, K. (in press). Incorporating clinical authority: A new test for people with HIV. In N. Watson & S. Cunningham-Burley (Eds.), *Reframing the body*. London: Macmillan.
- Race, K., Cristaudo, P., Wilkins, R., & Prestage, G. (1997). *Pills, health, capacity: The significance of HIV health practices*. Sydney: National Centre in HIV Social Research, UNSW.
- Tovey, P., Atkin, K., Milewa, T. (2001). The individual and primary care: Service user, reflexive choice maker and collective actor. *Critical Public Health*, *11*(2): 153-166.

Stigma, discrimination & illness

- Bunting, S. (1996). Sources of stigma associated with women with HIV. *Advances in Nursing Science*, 19(2): 64-73.
- Gilmore, N. & Somerville, M. (1994). Stigmatization, scapegoating and discrimination in sexually transmitted diseases overcoming them and us. *Social Science & Medicine*, *39*(9): 1339-1358
- Goldin, C. (1994). Stigmatization and AIDS Critical issues in public health. *Social Science & Medicine*, *39*(9): 1359-1366.
- Heatherton, T., Kleck, R., Hebl, M., & Hull, J. eds. (2000). *The social psychology of stigma*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Herek, G. (1999). AIDS and stigma. American Behavioral Scientist, 42(7): 1106-1116.
- Lawless, S., Kippax, S., & Crawford, J. (1996). Dirty, diseased and undeserving: The positioning of HIV positive women. *Social Science & Medicine*, *43*(9): 1371-1377.
- Leiker J., Taub D., & Gast, J. (1995). The stigma of AIDS Persons with AIDS and social distance. *Deviant Behavior, 16*(4): 333-351.
- Miller, C. (2001). A theoretical perspective on coping with stigma. *Journal of Social Issues, 57*(1): 73-93.
- Oyserman, D. & Swim, J. (2001). Stigma: An insider's view. Journal of Social Issues, 57(1): 1-14.
- Ruggiero, K., & Taylor, D. (1995). Coping with discrimination how disadvantaged group members perceive the discrimination that confronts them. *Journal of Personal Social Psychology*, *68*(5): 826-838.
- Sayce, L. (1998). Stigma, discrimination and social exclusion: What's in a word? *Journal of Mental Health, 7*(4): 331-343.
- Sayce, L. (2000). From psychiatric patient to citizen: Overcoming discrimination and social exclusion. New York: St Martin's Press.
- Wahl, O. (1999). Mental health consumers' experience of stigma. *Schizophrenia Bulletin, 25*(3): 467-478.

Alternative Treatments

- Blair, B. (1995). *Healing traditions: Alternative medicine and health professions*. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.
- Braaksma, E. (1997). The Alternative advisor: The complete guide to natural therapies and alternative treatments Time-Life. *Library Journal*, *122*(13): 74.
- Ernst, W. (1997). Complementary medicine: A guide to natural therapies. *Social History of Medicine*, *10*(3): 497-499.
- Davis, C. (Ed.). (1997). Complementary therapies in rehabilitation: Holistic approaches for prevention and wellness. New York: Slack Inc.
- McCarthy, M. (Ed.). (1994). Natural therapies. London: Thorsons.
- Montgomery, S. L. (1993). Illness and image in holistic discourses: How alternative is 'alternative.' *Cultural Critique, 25*(Fall): 65-89.

Appendix 4

Advisory committee membership

Mr Jack Wallace Executive Officer Australian Hepatitis Council

Ms Annie Madden Executive Officer Australian Intravenous League

Associate Professor Wendy Loxley Deputy Director National Drug Research Institute Curtin University

Professor Sandy Gifford School of Health Sciences Deakin University

Mr Jeffrey Milne Senior Project Officer - Hepatitis C Policy HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Section Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care Ms Michaela Coleborne Assistant Director - Hepatitis C Education HIV/AIDS and Hepatitis C Section Commonwealth Department of Health and Aged Care

Professor Susan Kippax Director National Centre in HIV Social Research University of New South Wales

Dr Erica Southgate Research Fellow National Centre in HIV Social Research University of New South Wales

Appendix 5

What are your social research needs?

This project is assessing the social research needs of those working in hepatitis C and the injecting drug use field. We are talking to a variety of individuals and organisations, including AIVL, Australian Hepatitis Council, and state/territory based drug user groups and Hepatitis C Councils. The consultation will lead to an outline of research priorities for those working in the field. To assist us in this process we have produced this sheet for broad distribution as a way of getting staff, volunteers and peers thinking about their research needs.

We look forward to receiving your input.

Regards,

Erica Southgate, National Centre in HIV Social Research.

*** * * * * * ***

What is social research?

Social research investigates social and cultural phenomena. Social research aims to find out *what* is happening as well as improve our understanding of *why* it is happening.

For example there may be a particular group of people who inject drugs who appear to have different patterns of drug use from other groups. We might want to confirm our hunches about this group. The starting point might be to gather evidence to establish *what* they are doing. Once we have done this however we may require further understanding of the practice if the research is to be useful for our work. We may then want to know *why* they have the patterns of use they do. This type of research would then focus on the meanings and values the target population might attach to such practices, as well as what social processes might produce them.

Another example would be an investigation into why people with hepatitis C access antiviral treatment. Given that antiviral treatment has many side effects and needs to be undertaken for a long period of time, understanding people's decision making processes related to treatment uptake is important. Of equal importance would be examining psycho-social barriers to antiviral treatment uptake. Findings from a research project that explored antiviral treatment uptake could assist services in targeting education and support interventions.

Types of social research

Often people only think of research as surveys or data that focuses on collecting numbers. While this type of research is often important, it remains one of many approaches that can be used.

Social research includes case studies, focus groups, action research, a series of one-on-one interviews, cohorts where the same group of people are studied over a long period, and many other possibilities.

Whatever research method is adopted, it remains important to first clarify what the research question might be, and then once this has occurred, the best method of investigation is chosen.

All research approaches have their strengths and weaknesses. Often to overcome these research might adopt more than one approach, hoping to build a more detailed picture of what is occurring and why it is.

How can social research assist your work?

Good research should be able to assist you in your work. It could help you decide what programs might be needed for a particular target group, it might help you understand your target population, it might help you review current programs to determine if they are still appropriate, it might produce evidence that indicates your current programs are effective or ineffective. What research will enable you to do this in your work?

At other times research might be useful to produce evidence of events you already know are occurring. This type of data is often useful when negotiating funding and policy with government organisations.

It is also important that we not only identify research questions but that we think about why the answers to certain questions is important or useful. How will we use the knowledge that emerges from research projects?

Rarely does social research answer all your questions. Some of the questions we ask often have very complex answers that don't point to a simple program solution.

How you can assist social research?

Staff, volunteers and peers who work directly with people with hepatitis C and/or people who inject drugs play an important role in assisting the development and implementation of social research. Often 'frontline' staff, volunteers and peers have many hunches about consumer issues. Sharing these with the researcher helps in formulating research questions. So to is advising social researchers in accessing particular groups or the best research method to use with a group. This avoids valuable resources being wasted on research that is either not valuable or unlikely to successfully reach the target population.

Being clear on the priority research questions is an important starting point.

Some questions to ask yourself....

Over the coming weeks consultation meetings with individuals and organisations will be scheduled. To ensure these meetings are effective, below are some questions that may assist you and your colleagues in identifying research needs.

- What are some current issues you face in you work? What research might assist you in addressing those issues?
- What are some current issues affecting consumers? What research might assist you in addressing those issues?
- Is there more information (behaviour, practice, attitudes, values) about consumers that you would like, in order to inform your education programs?
- What research might help you plan and evaluate future activities?
- What research have you found useful in informing your education programs?
 Why?
- What research have you found less useful in informing your education programs?
 Why?